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1. INTRODUCTION 

History	is	a	string	that	ties	our	communities	together;	it	provides	a	coherent	narrative	to	
inform	our	decisions	based	on	the	lessons	of	the	past.		

The	communities	of	the	Southwest	Corridor	each	have	unique	and	shared	histories.	The	
study	of	these	stories	that	define	and	connect	the	Corridor	provide	insight	into	the	
development	patterns,	cultures	and	built	environments	found	throughout	the	area.	This	
report	chronicles	the	foundations	of	the	cities	in	the	Southwest	Corridor,	provides	an	
account	of	the	development	patterns	over	time,	gives	an	introduction	to	the	transportation	
history	of	the	Corridor	and	describes	the	historical	preservation	efforts	demonstrated	in	
each	of	the	cities	in	the	study	area.	

2. PRE‐1855 NATIVE AMERICAN HISTORY 

Before	the	arrival	of	settlers	of	European	descent,	the	Willamette	and	Tualatin	River	Valleys	
had	long	been	home	to	American	Indian	peoples.	Since	c.	11,000	BCE,	people	have	lived	in	
the	Pacific	Northwest.	Different	groups	have	called	the	land	in	the	Southwest	Corridor	
home,	the	Atfalati	(Tualatin)	and	the	Chinookan	Clackamas	are	the	best	documented,	
offering	a	primer,	if	not	a	complete	picture,	of	life	before	European	contact.	

The	Tualatin	Valley	was	long	the	home	of	the	Atfalati	people.	A	band	of	the	Kalapuya	tribe,	
the	Atfalati	(mispronounced	by	early	settlers	as	Tualatin)	lived	in	permanent	villages	near	
the	shores	of	the	now	drained	Wapato	Lake	in	western	Washington	County.		The	Atfalati	
settled	in	longhouses	on	the	valley	floor	rather	than	on	the	river	highlands.	The	Atfalati	
routinely	burned	the	valley	floor	in	order	to	discourage	the	growth	of	forests.	This	practice	
resulted	in	favorable	agricultural	conditions	monopolized	by	later	settlers.	

Around	300	BCE	the	Chinook	people	settled	along	the	Columbia	and	Willamette	Rivers.	The	
Chinook	lived	in	small	bands	along	the	river	highlands	where	they	hunted	for	elk	and	deer,	
fished	for	salmon	and	gathered	berries,	acorns,	camas	and	wapato.	The	bands	would	trade	
amongst	themselves	and	with	other	tribes	along	the	river	valleys.	One	tribe	of	the	
Chinookan	people	to	have	lived	in	the	area	that	is	today	Lake	Oswego	are	the	Clackamas	
(Zenk,	2008).	

The	Clackamas	lived	along	what	is	today	the	Clackamas	River.	The	land	where	Lake	Oswego	
is	today	was	home	to	the	tribe’s	western	extent.	According	to	accounts	by	the	Lewis	and	
Clark	expedition,	the	tribe	lived	in	eleven	villages	and	had	a	population	of	roughly	1,800	
people	in	1806.	Interactions	with	the	expeditions	brought	disease	to	the	Clackamas,	
decimating	their	population,	exacting	such	a	toll	that	by	1855	the	remaining	88	survivors	
were	relocated	to	the	Grand	Ronde	Indian	Reservation.	(Boyd,	1994;	City	of	Lake	Oswego,	
n.d.).	

With	the	arrival	of	Euro‐American	fur‐traders	in	the	late	18th	century	and	settlers	in	the	19th	
century	came	new	germs	and	diseases,	newfound	competition	and	foreign	concepts	of	land	
ownership	and	community.	Despite	new	Western	understanding	of	land	ownership	and	
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discriminatory	treatment,	the	Native	people	continued	to	maintain	their	identity	and	many	
traditions	while	the	Euro‐American	population	increased	in	the	area.	

	

3. EARLY EURO‐AMERICAN TRADERS AND SETTLERS 

Euro‐American	exploration	and	migration	to	the	Pacific	Northwest	came	in	waves	
beginning	with	river	explorations	in	the	late	18th	century	and	culminated	in	the	permanent	
settlements	that	were	established	in	the	1840s.		

The	first	Euro‐Americans	came	to	the	Willamette	Valley	and	the	vicinity	of	the	Southwest	
Corridor	in	the	late	18th	century.	Engaged	in	the	Northwest	China	Trade,	traders	from	
eastern	ports	followed	the	trade	route	of	Captain	Robert	Gray	of	Boston,	Mass.	This	trade	
introduced	Euro‐Americans	to	the	Native	tribes	of	the	Pacific	Northwest	as	they	traded	
beaver	pelts	and	fur.	Leaving	ports	along	the	eastern	seaboard,	ships	would	make	way	for	
the	mouth	of	the	Columbia	River.	The	vessels	would	be	laden	with	foodstuffs,	metals,	
textiles,	firearms	and	trinkets	to	be	traded	with	tribes	along	the	rivers.	The	skins	were	then	
taken	to	Guangzhou,	then	known	as	Canton,	where	they	were	traded	for	tea,	silks	and	
porcelains.	The	Northwest	China	trade	began	with	the	voyage	of	the	Columbia,	which	
departed	Boston	in	1787	and	returned	in	1790.	The	trade’s	heyday	came	to	a	close	in	the	
early	1840s,	when	sea	otter	skins	were	depleted,	the	Native	American	population	was	
reduced	by	disease	and	war,	and	the	Chinese	fur	market	was	depressed	due	to	civil	strife	
and	changing	fashions	(Krim,	Rowan,	&	Frank,	2006).	

The	first	major	overland	expeditions	to	the	Northwest	were	the	explorations	of	the	
Louisiana	Purchase,	arriving	in	the	Northwest	in	1805.	Meriwether	Lewis,	William	Clark	
and	their	Corps	of	Discovery	made	their	way	to	the	mouth	of	the	Columbia	River	and	the	
Pacific	Ocean	(Bowen,	1978).		

The	land	that	is	today	the	city	of	Portland	was	first	platted	in	1844	to	1845.	The	city	grew	
on	the	west	side	of	the	Willamette	and	soon	eclipsed	Oregon	City	as	Oregon’s	premier	city.	
The	city	grew	because	of	its	position	near	the	confluence	of	the	Willamette	and	Columbia	
Rivers.	Merchants	in	the	region	looked	inland	instead	of	toward	ocean‐bound	trade	routes.	
Known	as	the	Inland	Empire,	the	region	developed	steamboat	and	rail	lines	that	supplied	
mining	operations	in	Idaho	and	Montana.	Wheat	and	livestock	were	traded	through	
Portland	and	lumber	trade	was	developed	throughout	the	region.	The	cities	that	grew	near	
Portland	were	often	focused	on	providing	local	supplies	and	services.	Some	cities	provided	
raw	and	finished	materials	for	the	region,	such	as	Sherwood	bricks.	

In	the	1840s	and	1850s,	tens	of	thousands	of	new	migrants	found	their	way	to	the	Pacific	
Northwest.	The	land	of	the	Oregon	Territory	includes	the	present‐day	states	of	Oregon,	
Washington,	and	parts	of	Idaho,	Montana,	and	Wyoming.	The	Donation	Land	Claim	Act	of	
1850	forever	changed	the	region.	The	Donation	Land	Claim	Act	granted	320	acres	to	single,	
white	men	and	640	acres	to	married,	white	couples	who	established	residency	on	the	land	
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before	Dec.	1,	1851.	This	proclamation	gave	Euro‐American	settlers	“legal”	and	“exclusive”	
claim	to	the	land,	leading	to	the	accelerated	and	forced	removal	of	the	native	people.	Those	
natives	who	had	lived	in	tense	coexistence	with	the	white	settlers	were	forcibly	moved	to	
reservations.	The	Donation	Land	Claim	Act	unleashed	tens	of	thousands	of	farmers	and	city	
residents	from	eastern	cities	and	throughout	the	Ohio	River	Valley.	Oregon’s	Willamette	
Valley	was	the	prime	destination	for	many	of	these	migrants	at	the	Oregon	Trail’s	end.	
Thanks	to	the	annual	burnings	performed	by	the	local	American	Indians,	the	valley	floor	
was	clear	of	trees	and	covered	by	tall	grasses.	Following	the	Oregon	Trail,	settlers	arrived	in	
Oregon	City	and	spread	throughout	the	valley	(Cluver,	2012).	

The	subsequent	years	saw	rapid	changes	to	the	way	land	was	developed,	the	growth	of	
towns	and	cities,	and	connections	to	new	transportation	networks.		The	next	section	will	
provide	brief	histories	of	each	city	followed	by	an	overview	of	transportation’s	role	in	
connecting	the	Corridor.	

	

4. HISTORIC OVERVIEW OF SOUTHWEST CORRIDOR CITIES 

This	section	provides	a	breakdown	of	each	city’s	founding	and	a	basic	historical	overview	of	
the	city’s	development.	The	sections	provide	a	summary	of	the	cities’	settlement	patterns	by	
Westerners.	Particular	detail	will	be	given	to	the	parts	of	the	cities	found	in	the	Southwest	
Corridor.	Through	provision	of	individual	histories	tempts	consideration	of	each	city	unto	
itself,	it	is	important	to	regard	the	Corridor	in	a	more	comprehensive	way,	considering	the	
linked	histories	and	shared	stories.	

The	timeline	below	is	provided	to	afford	a	chronological	continuum	to	the	European	
settlement	of	the	Corridor.	

1851‐	City	of	Portland	incorporated	

1893‐	City	of	Beaverton	incorporated	

1893‐	City	of	Sherwood	incorporated	

1910‐	City	of	Lake	Oswego	incorporated	

1913‐	City	of	Tualatin	incorporated	

1961‐	City	of	Tigard	incorporated	

1966‐	City	of	King	City	incorporated	

1966‐	City	of	Durham	incorporated	

4.1 Beaverton 
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Founded	in	1893,	Beaverton	is	named	for	the	beavers	which	created	large	bodies	of	water	
throughout	the	Tualatin	River	Valley.	The	Atfalati	Indians	that	lived	in	the	area	before	
western	expansion	called	their	villages	Chakeipi,	“place	of	the	beaver.”	The	early	settlers	
called	the	area	Beaverdam	and	later	Beaverton.	(City	of	Beaverton,	n.d.)	

Within	the	Southwest	Corridor	are	the	Beaverton	neighborhoods	of	Greenway	and	
Neighbors	Southwest	neighborhoods	along	Scholls	Ferry	Road	such	as	Scholls.	Much	of	the	
area’s	history	can	be	understood	by	placenames.	In	the	Southwest	Corridor,	off	Hall	
Boulevard	on	Creekside	Drive	is	the	Augustus	Fanno	farmhouse.	Namesake	of	Fanno	Creek,	
Augustus	Fanno,	came	to	Oregon	a	schoolteacher	but	soon	brought	onion	farming	to	the	
Tualatin	Valley.	Fanno	made	a	small	fortune	by	being	the	first	to	ship	onions	to	Alaska	
during	the	Yukon	Gold	Rush.			

In	the	1850s	the	Denney	brothers	built	a	farmhouse	with	their	sister	Rebecca	along	what	is	
today	Denney	Avenue.	The	brothers	built	a	sawmill	along	Fanno	Creek	and	Rebecca	started	
the	area’s	first	school.	Augustus	Fanno	and	Rebecca	Denney,	both	school	teachers,	married	
in	1851.	To	this	day,	three	of	the	“American	Freedom	Trees”	stand	where	Augustus	planted	
them	in	1876	to	celebrate	the	American	centennial	(End	of	the	Oregon	Trail	Interpretative	
Center,	1998).	

Scholls	Ferry	Road	creates	some	of	the	northwestern	boundary	of	the	Southwest	Corridor	
data	collection	area,	this	road	brought	travelers	to	Peter	Scholl’s	ferry	across	the	
Willamette.	The	ferry	began	operations	shortly	after	Scholl	took	up	a	Donation	Land	Claim	
nearby	in	1847.	

4.2 Durham 

Along	the	banks	of	the	Tualatin	River	and	adjacent	to	Boones	Ferry	Road,	A.	Alonzo	Durham	
established	a	flour	mill	in	1866.	Durham	operated	this	mill	until	his	death	in	1898.	The	site	
was	known	as	Durham	Mills.	With	the	building	of	the	Oregon	Electric	Railway	(detailed	
below),	a	stop	was	established	at	the	location.	The	railway	named	the	stop	Durham,	and	the	
stop	served	as	an	important	connection	between	farms	and	Portland	along	Boones	Ferry	
Road.	

In	the	early	1900s	many	of	the	large	trees	found	in	Durham	City	Park	were	planted	by	the	
Pilkington	Nursery,	located	adjacent	to	the	park.	In	many	ways,	it	was	the	presence	of	those	
commercially	planted	trees	that	led	the	city	to	be	incorporated	in	1966.	Wary	of	industrial	
pressures	on	land	in	Tigard	and	Tualatin,	residents	voted	to	incorporate	to	protect	the	area	
from	encroaching	industrialization.	The	city	has	a	strong	tree	ordinance	which	requires	
permits	for	tree	removal	and,	through	bond‐funded	property	acquisition;	the	city	has	
acquired	a	number	of	wooded	parcels	and	maintains	the	tree‐filled	Durham	City	Park	(City	
of	Durham,	n.d.).	All	of	the	city	of	Durham	is	within	the	Southwest	Corridor	data	collection	
area.	

4.3 Lake Oswego 
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(Lake)	Oswego	was	founded	in	1847	by	A.	Alonzo	Durham	when	he	secured	the	first	
Donation	Land	Claim	for	the	area.	Durham	named	the	new	town	after	his	New	York	
hometown	found	on	the	banks	of	Lake	Ontario.	In	Oswego,	Durham	established	a	sawmill	
operation	at	what	was	then	called	Sucker	Creek	(today’s	Oswego	Creek).	This	was	the	area’s	
first	industry,	but	it	was	soon	followed	by	iron	mining	operations	when	a	vein	of	iron	ore	
was	discovered	in	the	hills	north	of	Sucker	Creek.	In	1865,	the	Oregon	Iron	Company	was	
incorporated	and	led	to	Oswego	being	heralded	as	the	“Pittsburgh	of	the	West.”	Oswego’s	
iron	mining	and	smelting	industry	employed	more	than	300	employees	at	its	height	(City	of	
Lake	Oswego,	n.d.).		

At	this	time,	narrow	gauge	railway	was	developed	along	the	northern	side	of	Sucker	Creek,	
passing	through	Oswego	and	making	a	new	connection	to	Portland.	The	Portland	and	
Willamette	Valley	Railway	Company	operated	the	line	and	allowed	for	more	reliable	and	
quicker	connections	to	be	made	(Scott,	1919).	The	development	of	electric	interurbans	in	
the	1910s	moved	Oswego	into	a	first‐rate	streetcar	suburb.	The	iron	company,	now	Oregon	
Iron	&	Steel,	redeveloped	their	land,	subdividing	and	platting	their	24,000	acres	of	company	
land.	Much	of	the	early	residential	developments	of	the	1920s	were	built	by	the	Ladd	Estate	
Company	(City	of	Lake	Oswego,	n.d.;	Mills,	1945).	

The	post‐war	era	brought	rapid	changes	to	Oswego.	Residential	development	blossomed	
around	the	perimeter	of	Oswego	Lake	in	the	1940s	and	1950s.	In	1960,	Lake	Grove	was	
annexed	and	the	city’s	name	was	changed	to	Lake	Oswego	(City	of	Lake	Oswego,	n.d.).	The	
Lake	Grove	and	Kruse	Way	areas	of	Lake	Oswego	are	within	the	Southwest	Corridor	data	
collection	area.	

4.4 King City 

In	1963,	the	Tualatin	Development	Company	originated	the	vision	of	the	first	senior	
community	in	the	Portland	region.	Built	on	unincorporated	land	in	Washington	County,	
King	City	was	created	as	an	adult,	55	and	older,	community.	

Land	was	subdivided	and	residential	streets	were	laid	out	around	a	nine	hole	golf	course.	At	
the	beginning	of	1964,	the	250	acres	of	the	adult	community	was	still	a	farm;	by	the	end	of	
the	year,	the	land	was	developed,	houses	built,	golf	course	constructed,	and	the	King	City	
Civic	Association	incorporated.	In	1965,	the	community	was	establishing	itself	through	
building	programs	and	social	events.	Growth	continued	rapidly;	in	1966,	270	homes	were	
occupied,	and	the	new	town	incorporated	itself	with	the	State	of	Oregon	as	a	city	(My	King	
City,	n.d.).	

Today,	the	city	has	annexed	land	near	Bull	Mountain;	it	remains	primarily	a	senior	
community,	but	youth	are	now	allowed	to	live	in	the	city	and	access	to	schools	is	being	
provided	in	Tigard.	The	city	remains	a	thriving	and	socially	connected	community	(City	of	
King	City,	n.d.).	All	of	the	City	of	King	City	is	within	the	boundaries	of	the	Southwest	
Corridor	data	collection	area.	
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4.5 Portland 

The	city	of	Portland	was	first	claimed	and	platted	in	1844‐1845	by	co‐founders	Francis	
Pettygrove	(from	Portland,	Maine)	and	Asa	Lovejoy	(from	Boston,	Massachusetts).	Located	
midway	between	the	established	Fort	Vancouver	and	the	bustling	frontier	capital	of	Oregon	
City,	Portland	was	famously	named	by	chance	of	a	coin	toss	between	the	cofounders.	The	
city’s	growth	and	eventual	prosperity	would	rely	on	superior	transportation	connections.	
“It	benefitted	from	being	the	head	of	navigation	on	the	Willamette	River	for	oceangoing	
vessels,	as	well	as	from	the	early	construction	of	roads	which	made	it	the	most	economical	
shipping	point	for	Oregon	wheat	to	feed	hungry	California	gold	miners	in	the	1850s”	
(Abbot,	2012).		

A	number	of	neighborhoods	and	areas	of	Portland	contribute	to	the	story	of	the	Southwest	
Corridor.	Taken	longitudinally,	it	can	be	seen	as	a	transportation	history	of	continued	
expansion,	improved	connection,	and	eventual	spillover	annexation.		

At	the	turn	of	the	20th	century,	the	area	known	as	Southwest	Portland	today	was	largely	
outside	of	the	city	limits.	Smaller	areas	such	as	Council	Crest	and	the	subdivisions	of	South	
Burlingame	would	be	annexed	in	the	early	20th	century.	These	annexations	and	the	later	
integration	of	neighborhoods	such	as	Multnomah	and	Hillsdale	were	possible	by	the	
rapidity	and	reliability	of	the	streetcars	radiating	from	downtown	Portland	at	the	time.		

The	railways	left	a	lasting	imprint	on	the	Corridor:	the	original	rail	grade	that	became	
Barbur	Boulevard	continued	southwest	toward	Newberg	and	onward	to	Salem;	the	
neighborhoods	of	southwest	Portland	were	platted	and	connected	to	the	central	city	
through	streetcars	and	interurbans.	As	the	following	section	of	this	report	will	chronicle,	the	
changes	from	the	streetcar	era	to	the	automobile	era	would	have	profound	impacts	on	the	
development	patterns	in	Southwest	Portland.	In	1925,	the	City	of	Portland	replaced	the	
Fourth	Avenue	rail	line	with	a	surface	street.	Completion	of	Barbur	Boulevard	took	almost	a	
decade	because	of	land	acquisition	issues,	but	soon	automobile	traffic	was	linking	dispersed	
residential	locations	throughout	the	West	Hills	and	south.	Business	quickly	located	auto‐
orientated	businesses	along	Barbur	Boulevard	(City	of	Portland,	2011).	

Annexation	during	the	second	half	of	the	20th	century	brought	many	new	neighborhoods	
into	the	city.	Multnomah	was	first	developed	in	the	1910s,	based	around	the	depot	of	the	
Oregon	Electric	Railway.	Multnomah	and	the	commercial	district	of	Multnomah	Village	were	
annexed	into	the	city	of	Portland	in	1950.	By	the	1960s	the	rapid	development	of	
Washington	County	pressured	Portland	to	annex	several	areas,	increasing	the	population	of	
the	southwest	area	from	about	15,000	to	nearly	44,000	(City	of	Portland,	2011).	During	the	
1950s	and	1960s,	most	of	the	neighborhoods	south	of	downtown	were	annexed	into	the	
city.	Under	the	leadership	of	Mayor	Terry	Schrunk,	the	City	of	Portland	implemented	what	
Schrunk	called	a	vigorous	annexation	policy	(Abbot,	1983).	The	city	accomplished	more	
than	two	hundred	annexations	during	the	1960s	including	a	number	of	neighborhoods	in	
the	Southwest	Corridor.	Not	all	communities	looked	at	the	annexation	by	Portland	in	a	
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positive	light;	Tigard	successfully	fended	off	annexation	by	incorporating	as	a	city	in	
Washington	County	in	1961.	

Also	annexed	in	the	1950s‐1960s	was	the	community	of	Hillsdale.	First	settled	by	John	
Addison	Slavin	in	1850	through	the	Donation	Land	Claim	Act,	Slavin	had	a	farm	and	
constructed	Slavin	Road,	now	Capitol	Highway,	in	order	to	provide	better	access	to	markets	
in	Portland.	In	the	1920s,	Slavin’s	subdivided	land	was	host	to	the	Portland	West	Side	Auto	
Camp,	an	overnight	auto	camping	rest	area	that	included	cabins	and	camping	areas.	While	
the	area	was	known	as	Hillsdale	since	the	1880s,	it	was	not	until	1996	that	the	boundaries	
and	definitional	identity	of	the	community	was	enshrined	through	the	establishment	of	the	
Hillsdale	neighborhood	association	(Your	Roadmap	to	Home,	n.d.).	In	the	late	1960s,	a	
proposed	“housing	project”	in	Hillsdale	was	stopped	because	city	planners	wanted	“to	
preserve	the	area’s	social	isolation”	(Abbot,	1983).	The	city	continues	to	change,	redevelop	
and	rebuild.	Hillsdale	and	Southwest	Portland	neighborhoods	can	no	longer	be	considered	
isolated,	as	they	are	tightly	woven	into	the	fabric	of	Portland	and	the	other	cities	of	the	
Corridor.	Near	the	turn	of	the	20th	century	Portland	was	the	third	largest	city	in	the	
American	West,	today	it	is	the	13th	largest	city	west	of	the	Mississippi.	

4.6 Sherwood 

By	the	1870s,	many	families	were	living	in	the	area	around	today’s	Sherwood.	In	1885,	
James	Christopher	and	Mary	Ellen	Smock	gave	right‐of‐way	across	their	property	to	the	
Portland	&	Willamette	River	Valley	Railway.	With	the	depot	established,	the	Smocks	platted	
what	is	today	Old	Town	in	1889.	The	town	that	grew	along	those	streets	came	to	be	known	
as	Smockville.	A	town	meeting	was	held	with	most	of	the	residents	present	in	order	to	
rename	the	town.	Robert	Alexander	of	Sherwood,	Michigan	suggested	Sherwood	in	honor	of	
his	hometown	and	England’s	famed	Sherwood	Forest.	The	Town	of	Sherwood	was	
incorporated	in	1893.	

The	initial	industry	of	the	town	was	the	brickyard	that	supplied	building	bricks	for	much	of	
Portland’s	rapid	growth	during	this	period.	At	this	time	most	of	Sherwood’s	historic	
commercial	buildings	were	constructed,	including	the	nine‐block	brick	façade	of	Old	Town.	
A	victim	of	the	1893	recession,	the	brickyard	closed	in	1895.	The	economy	shifted,	
becoming	more	diverse	and	resilient.	For	most	of	the	city’s	history	a	fruit	and	vegetable	
cannery	and	a	tannery	supported	gradual	growth.	Rapid	sprawl	emanating	from	Portland	
and	radiating	along	the	Sunset	Highway	made	Sherwood	an	attractive	exurb	beginning	in	
the	1970s	and	continuing	at	an	accelerated	rate	in	the	mid‐	to	late‐1990s	(City	of	Sherwood,	
n.d.).	

4.7 Tigard 

In	1852,	Wilson	M.	Tigard	arrived	in	the	Oregon	Territory	by	wagon	from	Arkansas.	When	
Tigard	arrived	to	the	Tualatin	Valley,	the	land	was	already	taken	by	land	claims.		Friends	in	
the	area	encouraged	the	young	Tigard	to	move	to	the	area	to	work	as	a	school	teacher	
(Tigard,	2010).	The	city	was	known	as	East	Butte	until	1886,	when	Tigard’s	son,	Charles,	
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petitioned	for	a	post	office	to	be	opened	in	his	general	store	located	on	the	corner	of	
Southwest	McDonald	Street	and	Southwest	Pacific	Highway.	In	order	to	incent	the	petition,	
Charles	Tigard	offered	to	serve	as	postmaster	for	two	years	without	pay	(Tigard,	2010).	As	
was	the	custom	of	the	time,	the	Postal	Service	named	the	location	and	address	for	the	
applicant,	in	this	case	naming	the	facility	Tigardville	(Payne,	1979).	The	Tigardville	General	
Store	was	the	center	of	the	small	community,	housing	fraternal	organizations	such	as	the	
Odd	Fellows,	a	small	library	and,	in	1901,	the	area’s	first	telephone	(Payne,	1979).		

As	rail	service	by	interurban	reached	Tigardville,	the	station	name	was	shortened	to	Tigard	
to	avoid	confusion	with	the	later	stop	at	Wilsonville.	The	village	center	was	moved	along	the	
rail	line	between	1907	and	1910	as	several	small	commercial	buildings	went	up	in	the	new	
commercial	area	(Buan,	1999).	The	rail	line	spurred	residential	growth	in	the	area	
independent	of	large	farm	tracts.	In	1916,	the	Tigard	Lumber	Company	began	operation	and	
built	a	number	of	new	houses	near	the	station.		

The	1930s	were	a	time	of	slow	growth	and	gradual	improvements.	During	this	time,	a	civic	
association	paved	the	streets	and	sidewalks	of	the	downtown	area	and	improved	
connections	by	road	were	made	in	order	encourage	automobile	travel.	Population	slowly	
increased	through	the	post‐war	era,	remaining	just	above	three	hundred	until	the	late	
1950s	and	1960s	brought	a	phenomenal	population	growth	(Buan,	1999).	

In	order	to	stop	continued	pressure	for	annexation	by	the	city	of	Portland,	the	people	of	
Tigard	incorporated	in	Washington	County	in	1961.	Lake	Oswego,	Tigard,	and	Beaverton	
effectively	created	a	barrier	stopping	Portland’s	possible	southward	expansion	(Abbot,	
1983).	The	city	continued	to	grow,	attracting	a	number	of	industrial	and	commercial	
businesses	to	the	Tigard	Triangle	during	the	1980s	and	1990s	and	the	annexation	of	an	area	
around	Bull	Mountain	in	2004,	and	River	Terrace	in	2011.	The	city	continues	to	redevelop	
and	change.	All	of	Tigard	is	within	the	study	area.	

4.8 Tualatin 

The	City	of	Tualatin	has	been	on	the	move,	literally;	since	1853	the	town	has	been	shifting	
its	center	and	its	name.	The	city	began	as	the	small	village	of	Galbreath,	built	on	the	north	
side	of	the	Tualatin	River	ferry	crossing.	In	1853,	Samuel	Galbreath	began	his	ferry	service;	
later,	he	built	the	first	toll	bridge	across	the	Tualatin.	Soon	after	the	building	of	Galbreath’s	
bridge,	the	town’s	name	was	changed	to	Bridgeport.	The	thriving	village	located	itself	along	
Boone’s	Ferry	Road	and	provided	crossing	for	travelers	moving	throughout	the	Willamette	
Valley.		

In	1886,	the	Portland	&	Willamette	Railway	Company	purchased	right	of	way	through	John	
Sweek’s	land.	Sweek	took	advantage	of	this	windfall	by	platting	a	new	town	around	the	
railroad	depot,	selling	the	land	and	renaming	the	town	Tualatin.	Buoyed	by	the	success	of	
the	Tualatin	Mill	Company’s	payroll,	the	town	grew	quickly.	
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The	city’s	center	shifted	again	in	1906	with	the	building	of	the	Oregon	Electric	Railroad’s	
Portland‐Salem	line.	In	1913,	the	booming	city	incorporated	and	continued	growing	based	
on	improved	agricultural	technology.	Many	new	immigrants	found	their	way	to	Tualatin,	
including	a	large	number	of	Italian	immigrants,	(Buan,	1999).	The	new	Italian	families	
developed	the	‘onion	flats’	between	Tualatin	and	Sherwood	during	the	early	20th	century	
(Martinazzi,	1994).	Other	specialty	crops	of	the	area	included	irises	and	other	flower	crops.	
The	city	grew	as	more	people	were	attracted	to	the	area.	Investors	purchased	farms	and	
subdivided	lands	as	the	electric	rail	connection	put	Portland	only	one	hour	away.	Improved	
roads	such	as	Boones	Ferry	Road	allowed	for	greater	automobile	connections.	

During	the	1960s,	the	city	drew	many	new	residents	attracted	to	its	suburb	location,	
proximity	to	Washington	County	attractions,	Portland,	and	Salem	to	the	south.	In	1970,	the	
city	annexed	a	great	deal	of	this	rapidly	developing	land	in	order	to	place	certain	controls	on	
the	development.	Annexation	brought	tracts	of	land	for	industry	and,	in	1985,	the	city	
added	a	large	tract	to	the	west	(City	of	Tualatin).	The	city	continues	to	grow,	offering	
industrial,	institutional	and	commercial	development	opportunities	in	addition	to	
residential	life.		Tualatin	Town	Center	and	westward	are	located	within	the	Southwest	
Corridor	study	area.	

	

5. TRANSPORTATION HISTORY 

Transportation	technology	has	spurred	the	growth	of	the	Southwest	Corridor.	Cities	within	
the	data	collection	area	and	throughout	the	region	have	grown	and	changed	based	on	
available	transportation	technologies.	Land	use	patterns	and	spatial	orientation	of	
businesses	and	housing	has	been	contingent	on	these	developments.	Initially,	
transportation	was	reliant	on	the	earliest	highways:	rivers.	River	travel	was	the	quickest	
and	cheapest	mode	of	transportation	and	vessels	plied	the	waters	of	the	Tualatin	River	and	
the	Willamette	River.	Farm	to	market	roads	were	developed	throughout	the	area	as	well	as	
roads	connecting	to	ferry	services.	Initially	muddy	tracks,	these	roads	slowly	improved	as	
plank	roads	and	other	improvements	were	added.	Orientation	of	development	shifted	with	
the	development	of	rail	service	throughout	the	area.	First	interurban	service	came,	followed	
by	streetcar	and	more	local	services.	At	the	height	of	the	streetcar	and	electric	interurban	
era	came	the	advent	of	the	automobile	age.	Nothing	would	be	the	same	again.	The	
automobile	removed	the	necessity	to	locate	businesses	and	residential	uses	near	
commercial	and	transportation	centers.	The	building	of	Interstate	5	and	improvements	to	
Highway	99W	paved	the	way	for	increased	automobility.	The	farms	of	the	area	were	quickly	
converted	as	changing	housing	patterns	brought	residents	out	of	the	cities	in	the	post‐war	
era.		

5.1 River navigation and farm to market roads 

Farmers	in	the	area	found	a	lucrative	and	important	market	for	their	crops	as	soon	as	
settlements	developed.	The	California	gold	fields	were	located	on	land	with	poor	
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agricultural	potential	and	were	claimed	by	men	with	little	time	to	work	their	lands	for	
agricultural	subsistence.	Soon,	Tualatin	and	Willamette	Valley	farmers	were	shipping	their	
goods	to	this	lucrative	market.	A	deepwater	port	was	necessary	and	as	Oregon	City,	Linn	
City,	Linnton,	and	St.	Helens	all	vied	for	control	of	the	agricultural	trade	it	was	Portland’s	
proximity	to	the	Tualatin	Valley	farms	and	the	existence	of	a	year‐round	deep	water	port	
that	allowed	it	to	become	the	regional	shipping	center.	A	rudimentary	plank	road	was	
constructed	by	the	Portland	and	Valley	Plank	Road	Company.	Receiving	a	charter	from	the	
territorial	government,	the	company	laid	about	ten	miles	of	planks	before	they	ran	out	of	
money	in	1851	(Buan,	1999).	Eventually,	railroads	would	prove	to	be	much	more	reliable	
long‐distance	conveyors	of	market	goods	as	roads	were	built	radiating	from	rail	stations,	
making	easier	local	connections	to	rail	stations.	

The	difficulty	of	overland	travel	before	and	during	the	early	rail	period	meant	that	rivers	
were	the	ideal	transportation	for	most	of	the	19th	century.	Steamboats	and	crossing	ferries	
plied	the	Willamette	and	the	Tualatin	Rivers	in	the	Southwest	Corridor.	In	1856,	the	
legislature	chartered	the	Tualatin	River	Transportation	and	Navigation	Company	to	
improve	the	Tualatin	River	in	order	to	prepare	it	for	navigation.	The	company	was	formed	
by	John	Taylor,	operator	of	Taylor’s	Ferry	and	builder	of	Taylor’s	Ferry	Road	(Martinazzi,	
1994).	Though	steamboats	successfully	navigated	the	river,	full	improvements,	canals	or	
locks	were	never	completed.	Many	of	the	roads	familiar	today	in	the	Southwest	Corridor,	
Scholls	Ferry	Road,	Capitol	Highway,	Taylors	Ferry	Road,	and	Boones	Ferry	Road,	were	built	
by	purveyors	of	ferry	services,	guiding	activities	throughout	the	region	along	their	roads.		

For	a	time,	the	Tualatin	River	Navigation	Project	operated	a	railroad	that	connected	Sucker	
Lake	(now	Oswego	Lake)	to	the	Willamette,	bridging	the	transportation	gap	(Buan,	1999).	A	
canal	was	cut	in	1871	near	today’s	Lake	Grove	that	connected	Sucker	Lake	to	the	Tualatin	
River.	This	link	was	utilized	by	logging	entities	and	farmers	until	replaced	by	rail	
connections.	Remnants	of	the	canal	remain	visible	today.	The	planned	connection	between	
Sucker	Lake	and	the	Willamette	River	was	never	made	because	of	the	advent	of	quality	rail	
service	and	difficult	water	levels	at	key	times	in	the	year.	Throughout	the	19th	century,	side‐
wheeler	steam	service	made	connections	along	the	Tualatin	River	from	Oswego	to	Hillsboro	
and,	eventually,	riverway	improvements	were	made	that	allowed	navigation	westward	to	
Cornelius	(Timmen,	1973).		

5.2 Rail transportation 

The	early	story	of	rail	transportation	in	the	area	is	one	of	political	power	and	financial	
intrigue.	The	first	railroad	through	the	Southwest	Corridor	was	started	with	a	legislative	
grant	given	to	Joseph	Gaston.	Grant	requirements	stated	that	he	needed	to	complete	20	
miles	of	rail	by	1869.	With	half	of	the	work	complete	Ben	Holladay	of	Pony	Express	wealth	
came	to	Portland	and,	with	$35,000	of	political	bribes	and	graft,	Holladay	was	able	to	
wrangle	the	grant	from	Gaston.	Holladay’s	actions	led	to	development	of	the	new	towns	of	
Beaverton	and	Sherwood.	When	the	residents	of	Hillsboro	and	Forest	Grove	balked	at	
Holladay’s	actions,	Holladay	aligned	his	service	to	the	south,	bolstering	the	town	of	
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Beaverton.	Ten	years	later,	the	building	of	the	Oregon	&	Transcontinental	Railroad	led	to	
the	platting	of	Sherwood	(Buan,	1999).	Growth	continued	at	a	slow	pace,	facilitated	by	rail	
service	and	farm	to	market	roads	that	connected	to	rail	stations	until	the	advent	of	the	first	
electric	interurbans,	the	first	commuter	service.	

The	first	decade	of	the	twentieth	century	was	a	time	of	frenzied	electric	railway	building.	
Two	new	systems	were	built	in	Oregon:	the	Oregon	Electric	Railway	Company	lines	and	the	
Southern	Pacific,	known	first	as	the	Portland,	Eugene	&	Eastern	Railway.	Along	what	today	
is	Highway	99W,	the	Oregon	Electric	built	tracks	that	followed	the	shoulder	of	the	west	hills	
to	Bertha,	while	Southern	Pacific	had	tracks	at	a	higher	elevation.	The	Oregon	Electric	
continued	south	to	Wilsonville.	Opening	to	initial	success,	it	would	soon	become	a	pawn	in	
an	intercontinental	business	battle	between	the	Northern	Pacific	&	Great	Northern’s	James	
J.	Hill	and	the	Union	Pacific’s	Edward	Harriman.	Beginning	with	gaining	control	of	Chicago,	
then	Seattle,	Spokane	and	Portland,	a	rush	of	railroad	building	and	competition	eventually	
found	the	Oregon	Electric	being	purchased	by	Hill	(Mills	R.	,	1943).	The	Oregon	Electric	
Railroad’s	line	passed	the	stations	of	Tigard	and	Tualatin,	changing	the	cities’	housing	
patterns	and	opportunities	to	move	freight	other	than	by	wagon	road	or	via	the	Tualatin	
River	connection.	

The	Southern	Pacific	line,	by	way	of	Union	Pacific,	countered	Hill’s	actions.	They	revealed	a	
plan	to	make	a	web	of	electric	interurbans	that	would	make	connections	throughout	the	
Willamette	Valley.	This	system,	almost	overnight,	created	excitement	about	new	improved	
connections.	The	Southern	Pacific	line	served	the	communities	of	what	is	today	the	
Southwest	Corridor.	These	trains	were	called	the	Red	Electrics	because	of	the	distinctive	
red	engines	and	cars	with	portholes	for	the	engineers.	Though	Hill’s	Oregon	Electric	line	
was	considered	finer,	the	service	provided	by	the	Red	Electric	created	new	demand	to	the	
small	towns	south	of	Portland	(Mills	R.	,	1943).		

Much	of	the	labor	to	build	these	early	rail	lines	was	performed	by	Chinese	immigrants	and	
migrants	from	California	brought	to	Oregon	for	the	railroad	construction.	Many	Chinese	
made	their	way	north	from	California	to	seek	new	agricultural	and	labor	opportunities.	A	
host	of	exclusionary	laws	were	created	in	order	to	restrict	Chinese	from	enjoying	the	full‐
benefits	of	their	labors.	Chinese	exclusionary	laws	often	would	bar	re‐entry,	establishment	
of	residency,	and	a	host	of	civil	rights	in	Oregon	and	California	(Griffith,	2007).	The	Chinese	
laborers	were	often	poorly	treated	by	the	communities	in	which	they	lived	and	where	they	
worked.	Their	labors	helped	to	create	the	rail	lines	and	they	invested	money	earned	within	
the	communities	where	they	lived.	This	exclusion	inspired	Chinese	fraternal	organizations	
and	other	beneficiary	societies	that	helped	Chinese	businesses	open	and	flourish,	defying	
oppressive	and	restrictive	laws.	It	wasn’t	until	the	eve	of	World	War	II	that	Chinese	
residents,	some	families	having	been	in	the	United	States	for	almost	a	century,	were	given	
the	right	of	citizenship.	

5.3 Age of the automobile 
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As	Randall	Mills	writes,	though	Oregon	had	some	of	the	finest	interurban	systems,	“still,	
there	were	those	who	remembered	that	Buick	that	arrived	…	in	1908,”	(Mills	R.	,	1943).	
Automania	found	its	way	to	Oregon	at	the	same	time	that	the	interurbans	were	developing.	
“More	and	more	automobiles	were	cluttering	the	country	roads‐	tourists	with	running	
boards	overloaded	with	wondrous	camping	paraphernalia,	Sunday	drivers	out	for	a	ride,	
farmers	on	the	way	to	market,	drummers	and	salesmen	on	their	rounds”	(Mills	R.	V.,	1945).	
In	1908	there	were	seven	hundred	automobiles	in	the	state	of	Oregon;	by	1912	there	were	
ten	thousand;	two	years	later	there	were	sixteen	thousand;	and	by	1920,	there	were	over	
one	hundred	thousand	automobiles	registered	in	Oregon	(Mills	R.	V.,	1945).	People	began	to	
abandon	the	trolleys	and	interurbans	that	had	done	so	much	to	establish	the	early	suburbs	
of	the	region.	In	1913,	Oregon	took	the	first	steps	in	creating	an	integrated	highway	system	
to	accommodate	this	boom.	The	country’s	first	statewide	gasoline	tax	was	instated	by	
Oregon	in	1919.	This	tax	largely	paid	for	the	development	of	state	highways	and	supported	
ongoing	maintenance	(Watson,	1950).		

The	purpose	of	the	State	Highway	Department	can	be	summarized	by	their	1913	slogan:	
“Get	Oregon	Out	of	the	Mud.”	The	state	went	about	making	road	and	bridge	improvements,	
stabilizing	the	sides	of	roads	and	building	new	roads.		

Based	on	the	hard	work	of	the	Good	Roads	Movement	spearheaded	by	bicyclists,	paving	
improvements	were	undertaken	throughout	the	country.	Watson	states	that	“the	bicycle	is	
the	grandpapa	of	the	Oregon	State	Highway	financing	system”	(Watson,	1950).	The	1901	
legislature	provided	for	the	construction	of	“bicycle	paths	on	either	or	both	sides	of	all	
public	highways	of	the	state	for	the	use	of	pedestrians	and	bicycles”	(Ibid.).	A	tax	was	levied	
on	all	bicyclists	representing	the	first	transportation	user	fee.	The	good	roads	for	bicyclists	
were	soon	seen	to	be	improvements	that	would	aid	increasing	adoption	of	motor	vehicles,	
and	the	success	of	road	user	fees	was	applied	to	the	gas	tax	for	automobiles	(Terry,	2011).	

In	the	Southwest	Corridor,	the	arrival	of	motordom	brought	severe	and	lasting	changes	to	
the	development	and	land	use	patterns.	The	City	of	Portland	went	about	creating	a	number	
of	roads	that	linked	the	central	city	to	outlying	suburbs.	Barbur	Boulevard	was	one	of	the	
first	major	highway	projects	undertaken	in	the	1930s.	Running	south	from	Portland	on	the	
route	of	the	then	abandoned	Southern	Pacific	rail	line,	Barbur	Boulevard	allowed	Portland’s	
downtown	to	begin	stretching	south,	eventually	the	building	of	highway	interchanges	
would	effectively	disrupt	this	expansion	(Abbot,	1983).	It	took	the	City	of	Portland	a	decade	
of	negotiations	with	the	Southern	Pacific	railroad	and	various	regulatory	commissions,	but	
in	1931	the	city	acquired	the	unused	railroad	right‐of‐way	and	in	1934	opened	Barbur	
Boulevard.	Barbur	Boulevard	was	slowly	connected	to	other	stretches	of	former	rail	lines	
and	roads	to	create	Highway	99W.		

Named	for	the	City	Commissioner	of	Public	Works,	Asberry	Barbur,	Barbur	Boulevard	
provided	an	early	demonstration	of	automobile‐oriented	development	patterns.	The	City	of	
Portland	realized	that	automobile‐oriented	roads	might	bring	unwanted	development,	so	
the	1924	zoning	code	that	allocated	land	to	apartments	and	businesses	was	down‐zoned	in	
1935	in	order	to	“preserve	a	scenic	entrance	to	the	city	and	to	protect	the	Burlingame	
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neighborhood	(Abbot,	1983).	In	the	end,	this	technique	did	not	work	and	low	density	single‐
family	housing	quickly	located	adjacent	to	auto‐oriented	business	strips	built	along	the	
highway.	Auto‐	and	motor‐courts,	restaurants	(such	as	the	Original	Pancake	House),	drive‐
ins,	and	gas	stations	were	quickly	built.	In	1950,	the	Fred	Meyer	supermarket	–the	chain’s	
longest	continuously	operating	store	–was	opened.	Oriented	to	the	highway	and	not	to	a	
neighborhood,	the	supermarket	represents	the	shift	in	design	and	focus	of	the	nation.			

In	the	1950s	and	1960s,	the	creation	of	the	interstate	highway	system	led	to	bulldozing	of	
neighborhoods	such	as	Lair	Hill	in	the	Southwest	Corridor	in	order	to	create	Interstate	5	
and	Interstate	405.	In	1966,	Interstate	5	was	completed.	Running	parallel	to	many	parts	of	
Highway	99W,	Interstate	5	allowed	for	quick	access	to	the	blossoming	towns	south	of	
Portland.	Highway	99W	transitioned	from	highway	to	urban	arterial	street	during	this	
period	(City	of	Portland,	2011).	Rapid	growth	on	a	scale	never	before	seen	took	place	in	the	
subsequent	decades.	New	land	uses	and	designs	promoted	automobility.	While	the	nation’s	
course	has	shifted,	the	cities	of	the	Southwest	Corridor	retain	aspects	of	their	historic	
beginnings.	

6. HISTORIC PRESERVATION  

The	first	historic	preservation	ordinance	in	the	United	States	was	enacted	in	Charleston,	
South	Carolina	in	1930.	Ultimately,	that	ordinance	proved	discriminatory,	but	it	opened	the	
door	to	other	efforts	such	as	the	preservation	of	the	French	Quarter	in	New	Orleans,	
Lousiana	and	a	larger	national	movement.	In	1966,	the	National	Historic	Preservation	Act	
(NHPA)	established	the	National	Register	of	Historic	Places.	Each	year	the	list	of	designated	
properties	grows,	providing	a	cultural	trust	and	connection	to	historical	buildings	and	sites	
that	define	the	development	of	the	nation.	From	this	Act	came	the	National	Register	Historic	
Districts	such	as	Portland’s	Skidmore/Old	Town	and	South	Portland	Historic	Districts.	
These	districts	are	geographical	areas	with	a	concentration	of	historically	significant	
properties.	The	table	below	provides	a	survey	of	the	historic	preservation	and	inventory	
efforts	in	the	Southwest	Corridor.	

Most	cities	in	the	Southwest	Corridor	have	groups	concerned	about	historic	preservation.	
These	are:	Beaverton	Historical	Society,	Oswego	Town	Historical	Society	and	the	Oswego	
Heritage	Council,	Portland	Historical	Society,	Inc.,	Sherwood	Historical	Society,	Tigard	
Historical	Society,	Tualatin	Historical	Society,	Washington	County	Museum,	the	Oregon	
Historical	Society,	and	many	citizens	concenred	with	historic	preservation.	These	groups	
coordinate	historical	preservation	and	curation	of	historical	artifacts	and	oral	histories.	By	
maintaining	the	stories	of	the	past	we	give	voice	to	the	future.	

City  Historic Preservation and Inventory efforts 

Beaverton    ‐ The City of Beaverton has identified many historic resources 

through a Historic Resource Inventory process that has been 

repeated three times. 
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‐ Downtown Beaverton is a Historic District. 

‐ Historic Review process 

‐No Historic Districts in Southwest Corridor, but many designated 

historic properties and landmarks 

‐ One listed National Register Historic Place in Southwest Corridor: 

Augustus Fanno Farmhouse. 

Durham    ‐ Historic Resources Inventory  

King City    ‐ The City has identified no historic or cultural areas in the City.  

Lake Oswego    ‐ Historic Resources Inventory 

‐ Historic Resources Advisory Board, Historic Preservation Chapter 

(LOC 58), Historic Preservation Plan (1989), Cultural Resources 

Inventory (1989). 

‐Old Town Design District preserves historic design elements. 

‐ Four listed National Register Historic Places in Southwest Corridor: 

Bates House No. 2, No. 3, No. 4, and the Lake Oswego Hunt Club 

Ensemble. 

Portland    ‐ Historic Resources Inventory, Historic Design review, historic 

Designation Review, Historic Preservation Incentive Review 

‐ Historic Resource Protection overlay zones; South Portland Historic 

District and part of the Skidmore/ Old Town Historic District are 

within the Southwest Corridor study area. 

‐ Many historic landmarks and Register of Historic Places found in 

the downtown portion of the Corridor and southward. 

Sherwood    ‐ Historic Resources Inventory 

‐ Old Town Overlay zone with Old Town Design Guidelines to direct 

design in the Smockville subdivision and neighborhoods generally 

considered Old Town. 

‐ No National Register Historic Places. 

Tigard    ‐ Historic Resources Inventory 

‐ Two Historic District overlays governed by Municipal Code Title 
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18.740 Historic Overlay zone which protects the buildings in the 

Districts. 

‐ Two listed National Register Historic Places in Southwest Corridor: 

Tigard House and Rider Family Cabin. 

Tualatin    ‐ Historic Resources Inventory 

‐ A number of historic sites are listed in the Comprehensive Plan. 

‐ One listed National Register Historic Place in Southwest Corridor: 

Meadowbrook. 

	

7. KEY FINDINGS 

The	Tualatin	and	Willamette	River	Valleys	have	provided	sustenance	for	thousands	of	years	
for	hundreds	of	thousands	of	people.	The	developments	of	the	late	20th	century	forever	
changed	the	way	the	land	is	used.	Many	of	these	changes	were	exacerbated	and	facilitated	
by	the	rapid	development	of	transportation	technology.	Rapid	adoption	of	motor	vehicles	
quickly	altered	traditional	travel	patterns,	allowed	new	connections	and	increased	mobility.	
Workers	could	live	in	one	town	and	travel	quickly	to	the	central	city	or	elsewhere	for	work.	
Land	choice	was	no	longer	dominated	by	transportation	options.	

These	patterns	are	manifested	in	each	of	the	cities	of	the	Southwest	Corridor,	resulting	in	a	
predominance	of	single‐family	residential	neighborhoods	where	families	have	room	for	a	
yard	and	other	amenities.	To	this	day,	services	remain	located	along	the	main	arterials	of	
the	cities	allowing	continued	intercity	connections.	

The	cities	of	the	Southwest	Corridor	each	have	unique	and	rich	histories.	While	each	City	
can	be	better	understood	through	detailed	study	of	important	people	and	occurrences,	a	
more	comprehensive	understanding	is	gained	through	the	study	of	their	shared	histories.	
Appreciated	as	a	group	of	interconnected	woven	communities	we	understand	the	role	that	
transportation,	farming,	housing	developments,	and	new	industries	have	had	on	the	area	
over	the	intervening	century	and	half.	

7.1 Opportunities 

The	historic	origins	of	the	Southwest	Corridor	allows	for	the	study	of	a	number	of	themes.	It	
is	possible	to	see	the	development	patterns	over	time	and	begin	to	understand	how	quickly	
certain	changes	happened.	Historical	perspective	also	makes	it	possible	to	understand	how	
the	veins	of	Highway	99W	and	Highway	217	have	carried	the	lifeblood	of	the	communities	
for	more	than	a	hundred	years.	Serving	in	this	capacity,	the	land	development	patterns	
adjacent	to	these	roads	has	changed	radically	over	the	years.	Study	of	the	Corridor’s	history	
will	help	explore	the	desirability	of	those	changes	and	inform	future	developments.	It	is	
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impossible	to	understand	where	we’re	going	without	looking	back	to	where	we	are	coming	
from.		

7.2 Constraints  

The	history	of	the	Southwest	Corridor	provides	few	constraints.	The	challenges	presented	
lies	in	the	reconciliation	of	the	different	histories	of	the	cities	and	their	place	within	the	
region.	As	some	cities	developed	in	response	to	actions	taken	by	adjacent	cities,	it	is	
important	to	reflect	on	sometimes	challenging	relationships	and	local	identities.	By	
synthesizing	the	many	histories	and	political	conflicts,	a	metahistory	of	net	progress	can	be	
written.	

	

WORKS CITED 

	
Abbot, C. (2012). "Portland, Oregon". Encyclopedia of American Urban History: SAGE Reference 

Online , 601‐02. 

Abbot, C. (1983). Portland: Planning, politics, and Growth in a Twentieth‐Century City. Lincoln, 

Neb.: University of Nebraska Press. 

Bowen, W. A. (1978). the Willamette Valley: Migration and Settlement on the Oregon Frontier. 

Seattle: University of Washington Press. 

Boyd, R. (1994). The Northwest Measles Epidemic of 1847‐1848. Oregon Historical Quarterly , 95 

(1), 6‐47. 

Buan, C. (1999). This far‐off sunset land: a pictoral history of Washington County, Oregon. 

Virginia Beach, VA: The Donning Company Publishers. 

City of Beaverton. (n.d.). Beaverton History. Retrieved February 2, 2012, from City of Beaverton 

website: http://beavertonoregon.gov/ 

City of Durham. (n.d.). City of Durham Welcome Page. Retrieved February 03, 2012, from City of 

Durham City Hall: http://www.durham‐oregon.us/ 

City of King City. (n.d.). City of King City, Oregon video. Retrieved February 02, 2012, from 

Welcome to King City: http://youtu.be/HukHD5oOlHo 

City of Lake Oswego. (n.d.). A Brief History. Retrieved February 02, 2012, from Lake Oswego 

Public Library: http://www.ci.oswego.or.us/about‐lo/history.htm 

City of Portland. (2011). Barbur Concept Plan, Existing Conditions Report. Bureau of Planning & 

Sustainability. Portland: City of Portland. 



 

18    Historic Overview Report| June 2012 

 

City of Sherwood. (n.d.). City History. Retrieved February 06, 2012, from City of Tualatin, 

Oregon: http://www.sherwoodoregon.gov/city‐history 

City of Tualatin. (n.d.). Tualatin Annexation history. Retrieved February 08, 2012, from City of 

Tualatin : 

http://www.ci.tualatin.or.us/departments/communitydevelopment/planning/annexationhistory

.cfm 

Cluver, C. (2012). Farming Families on the Oregon Frontier". Retrieved January 31, 2012, from 

Encyclopedia of Immigration and Migration in the American West: SAGE Reference Online 

End of the Oregon Trail Interpretative Center. (1998). Augustus Fanno emigrant of 1846. 

Retrieved December 2006, from End of the Oregon Trail Interpretative Center: 

http://www.historicoregoncity.org/ 

Griffith, S. (2007). Dreams of the West: A History of the Chinese in Oregon, 1850‐1950. Portland, 

Oregon: Portland State University Press. 

Krim, R., Rowan, C., & Frank, M. (2006). Innovate Boston!: Shaping the future from our past: four 

amazing centuries of history. Boston, Mass.: Boston History & Innovation Collaborative. 

Martinazzi, L. a. (1994). Tualatin: from the beginning. Tualatin, Ore.: Tualatin Historical Society. 

Mills, R. (1943). Early Electric Interurbans in Oregon II: The Oregon Electric and Southern Pacific 

Systems. Oregon Historical Quarterly , 44 (4), 386=410. 

Mills, R. V. (1945). Recent History of Oregon's Electric Interurbans. Oregon Historical Quarterly , 

46 (2), 112‐139. 

My King City. (n.d.). King City History. Retrieved February 02, 2012, from My King City‐ Ken and 

Vicki's Real Estate: http://www.mykingcity.com/history.htm 

Payne, M. (1979). Tigardville Tigard. Lake Oswego, Ore.: Lake Grove Printing Company. 

Scott, L. M. (1919). History of the Narrow Gauge Railroad in the Willamette Valley. The Quarterly 

of the Oregon Historical Society , 20 (2), 141‐158. 

Terry, J. (2011, January 22). Portland enjoys a golden age of cycling‐ a century ago. The 

Oregonian . 

Tigard, C. (2010, October 1). Curtis Tigard Interview. (S. Murdoch, Interviewer) 

Timmen, F. (1973). Blow for the Landing. Caldwell, Idaho: The Caxton Printers, Ltd. 

Watson, R. (1950). Casual and factual Glimpses at the Beginning and Development of Oregon's 

Roads and Highways. Salem, Oregon: State of Oregon State Highway Commission. 



 

Historic Overview Report| June 2012    19 

 

Your Roadmap to Home. (n.d.). Hillsdale District | SW Portland Homes. Retrieved February 02, 

2012, from Portland Neighborhoods: 

http://www.yourroadmaptohome.com/neighborhoods_hillsdale.htm 

Zenk, H. (2008). Notes on native American Place‐Names of the Willamette Valley Region. Oregon 

Historical Quarterly , 109 (1), 6‐33. 

 



 

20    Historic Overview Report| June 2012 

 

 

APPENDIX A– BUILDING FOOTPRINTS 

	



 

Historic Overview Report| June 2012    21 

 

	



 

22    Historic Overview Report| June 2012 

 

	



 

Historic Overview Report| June 2012    23 

 

	



 

24    Historic Overview Report| June 2012 

 

	


